2001

Jerry V. Strand v. Prince-Covey and Co., INC., and Almon Covey : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondent Jerry V. Strand (referred to hereinafter as plaintiff) brought this action alleging that defendant-appellant Prince-Covey & Co., Inc. (hereinafter defendant¹), converted negotiable securities allegedly owned by plaintiff.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court for the Third Judicial District in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Gordon R. Hall presiding, granted plaintiff's motion for summary judg-

¹ The trial court did not enter judgment against the individual defendant, Almon Covey, and plaintiff's claims against Mr. Covey are not before this Court.

ment and awarded damages of \$26,000. Defendant's subsequent motion to set aside judgment and for rehearing was denied.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks an order of this court vacating the summary judgment rendered by the trial court and remanding the case for further proceedings. In the alternative, if the judgment is affirmed, defendant seeks an order of this court directing satisfaction of the judgment by set-off against a prior final judgment obtained by defendant against plaintiff in the amount of \$34,696.16, together with interest, no part of which has been satisfied to date.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

During 1972 defendant Prince-Covey & Co. incurred substantial losses from transactions in which its employee, Mr. Ted England, acted as trader and from the failure of Mr. England's customers to pay for purchases on accounts for which he acted as account executive. As is customary in the brokerage business, Mr. England had agreed to repay his employer for the losses. (R. 19-20).

Almon Covey, the president and a director of defendant Prince-Covey & Co., inquired as to when defendant might expect payment and was advised by Mr. England that the latter had a personal loan at Murray First Thrift & Loan of Salt Lake City secured by the pledge of 4,000 shares of Hoffman Resources stock. These shares had a current market value greater than the total of Mr. England's loan. Mr. England agreed that if defendant

would pay Mr. England's debt to Murray First Thrift, thereby obtaining release of the stock, Mr. England would sell the stock, repay defendant for the Murray First Thrift payment and use the balance of the proceeds to pay or reduce his debt to defendant. (R. 20).

Mr. Covey accompanied Mr. England to Murray First Thrift where Mr. Covey delivered defendant's check to pay the loan and Murray First Thrift released and delivered to Mr. England certificates representing at least 4,000 shares of Hoffman Resources stock. The certificates were in bearer form; neither plaintiff's nor Mr. England's name appeared on them. Mr. Covey and Mr. England returned to the Prince-Covey & Co. offices where 4,000 shares of the stock were deposited in England's personal account and sold. The proceeds were given to defendant Prince-Covey & Co. to repay it for the money advanced to Murray First Thrift and to pay or reduce England's debt to defendant. (R. 20). The balance of the stock was retained by England. (R. 37).

In his complaint, plaintiff alleges that he owned the 4,000 shares of Hoffman Resources stock and had "pledged" them in January of 1972 to Mr. England, who in turn had pledged them to Murray First Thrift. There is no explanation as to what plaintiff means when he says he "pledged" the stock. Defendant, in its answer, denied plaintiff's allegations of ownership, and, in any event, Mr. Almon Covey's affidavit denied knowledge or belief of such a fact. (R. 23-24). Plaintiff Jerry Strand filed no affidavit to support his purported ownership of the stock or to support any other allegation in his complaint. Mr.

England's affidavit stated that he "borrowed" the stock from plaintiff and that he "knew" plaintiff owned it. (R. 19-21). Mr. England's affidavit contains strained and self-serving statements to the effect that Mr. Covey might have inferred that plaintiff owned the stock. (R. 20-21).

At the hearing on plaintiff's motion for summary judgment, in addition to the complaint and answer, the court considered the affidavit of Mr. Ted England filed by plaintiff (R. 19-21) and the affidavit of Mr. Almon Covey filed by defendant. (R. 23-24). Mr. Covey's affidavit was presented to the court at the commencement of the hearing, although it appears in the record after the minute entry noting the granting of summary judgment,

Defendant filed additional affidavits in support of its Motion to Set Aside Judgment and for Rehearing from Michael F. Heyrend (R. 44-45), Almon Covey (R. 34-43), and David Nelson (R. 46-51). For the convenience of the court, the complaint, answer, and affidavits are included as appendixes to this brief, except for the record of Ted England's personal trading account which was attached to Mr. Covey's second affidavit.

The trial court ruled that defendant's lack of knowledge of plaintiff's ownership or claim of ownership was not a defense to a claim for conversion of negotiable securities. Alternatively, the trial court ruled that, even if knowledge was a necessary element in the conversion of negotiable securities, Mr. England's knowledge of plaintiff's alleged ownership must be imputed to defendant because of the employer-employee relationship between

them. The trial court so ruled despite the statements in Mr. England's affidavit that he and defendant were adverse parties with respect to this transaction. Moreover, Mr. England's affidavit indicates clearly that his dealings with plaintiff were not of a nature that would further his employer's interests, since Mr. England was acting on his own behalf and for his own benefit. (R. 20).

There is nothing in the record to indicate when plaintiff received notice of the alleged conversion. An affidavit of Mr. Mark E. McBride, not controverted by defendant, establishes that on one day in September 1972 Hoffman Resources Corporation was quoted at \$6.25 bid and \$6.75 asked. (R. 12).

The affidavit of Michael F. Heyrend (R. 44-45) filed in connection with defendant's motion for a new hearing establishes that on or about May 11, 1972, in the earlier case of *Prince-Covey & Co., Inc. v. Jerry V. Strand*, defendant Prince-Covey & Co. was awarded judgment against plaintiff in the amount of \$34,696.16 for plaintiff's failure to pay for stock he ordered.² In the course of defendant's attempts to collect this judgment, plaintiff gave testimony pursuant to an order in supplemental proceedings on July 20, 1972 and testified under oath that as of that date he owned no stock of any company other than 7,000 to 8,000 shares of Dusenberg Corporation, that he owned options on 20,000 shares of Hoffman Resources stock at \$3.00 per share, but did not then own any Hoff-

² The judgment set out in Mr. Heyrend's affidavit was affirmed by this Court; *Prince-Covey & Co., Inc. v. Strand*, 29 Utah 2d 224, 507 P.2d 708 (1973).

man Resources stock, and that the only note or chose in action he owned was a \$5,000 debt owed by a Mr. Al Johnson. At no point in the course of the examination, during which plaintiff was asked specifically what shares of stock he owned, was the Hoffman Resources stock in question in this lawsuit mentioned. (R. 44-45). This testimony of July 20, 1972 directly contradicts plaintiff's allegation of ownership in his complaint because in the instant action plaintiff alleges that he "pledged" the Hoffman stock to England in January 1972 (R. 1), that the stock was then pledged by England to Murray First Thrift in January 1972 (R. 19) and that plaintiff owned the stock on August 2, 1972, the date of the alleged conversion. (R. 1).

In his affidavit filed in support of the motion for rehearing, Mr. Almon Covey established that the Murray First Thrift loan was repaid and the shares obtained on August 2, 1972. (R. 36). Mr. England's affidavit, which was used by the court below to fix damages, stated that the shares were obtained and sold on approximately September 13, 1972. (R. 20). Mr. England's personal account which was attached to Mr. Covey's affidavit supports Mr. Covey's position and contradicts the position of Mr. England. (R. 43).

In the same affidavit, Mr. Covey discloses the details of Mr. England's position with Prince-Covey & Co. Mr. England was allowed to maintain a private brokerage account at Prince-Covey & Co., the use and maintenance of which was entirely personal and was not related to his duties as a registered representative of defendant. (R. 35-36). Mr. England's debt to Prince-Covey & Co. arose from

losses on his unauthorized actions or administrative errors as a trader and a registered representative and this debt was entirely personal to Mr. England and established between him and defendant Prince-Covey & Co. the relationship of debtor-creditor. (R. 36) It was within the context of this debtor-creditor relationship that Mr. Covey agreed to advance money for the repayment of the loan to Murray First Thrift and Mr. England agreed that, upon obtaining the shares of Hoffman Resources, he would sell the same and repay the amount of the Murray First Thrift loan plus all or a portion of his debt to defendant. (R. 36). The sale of the shares was effected through Mr. England's personal account. (R. 37).

The record of Mr. England's personal account attached to Mr. Covey's affidavit shows conclusively that there was a substantial number of trades in the Hoffman Resources stock during the year 1972, contrary to the statements contained in Mr. England's affidavit. (R. 39-43).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE WERE UNRESOLVED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACTS AND PLAINTIFF WAS NOT ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW.

Substantial issues of material facts remained unresolved when the trial court entered its judgment. No evidence was before the court from which it could properly fix a date for determining the value of the stock allegedly converted. There were no facts other than the allegations

of the complaint establishing plaintiff's ownership of the stock. The pleadings and affidavits placed squarely in issue the question of whether defendant was a bona fide purchaser of the negotiable securities. Defendant introduced evidence establishing that it acted as a bona fide purchaser and therefore took the securities free and clear of any adverse claims. Mr. Almon Covey's affidavit established defendant as a bona fide purchaser of the negotiable securities since the defendant had no knowledge of plaintiff's purported ownership interest in the stock. On this issue the only way the trial court could find such knowledge in light of Mr. Covey's affidavit was to impute Ted England's knowledge to defendant. This was error since England's interests were established in the record as adverse to defendant's with respect to the transactions in question.

A. KNOWLEDGE OF AN ADVERSE CLAIM IS A NECESSARY PREREQUISITE TO LIABILITY FOR CONVERSION OF A NEGOTIABLE SECURITY AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN HOLDING KNOWLEDGE TO BE UNNECESSARY OR IN IMPUTING SUCH KNOWLEDGE TO DEFENDANT.

Although in most instances a purchaser of goods may be liable for their conversion even though he is without knowledge of any adverse claims,³ the rule is opposite with

³ "Although conversion results only from intentional conduct it does not however require a conscious wrongdoing, but only an intent to exercise dominion or control over the goods inconsistent with the owner's right . . . thus a bona fide purchaser of goods for value from one who has no right to sell them becomes a converter when he takes possession of such goods." *Allred v. Hinkley*, 8 Utah 2d 73, 328 P.2d 726, 728 (1958). See also Restatement 2d, Torts, §229.

respect to a bona fide purchaser of negotiable securities. The Utah Uniform Commercial Code (§70A-8-301(2), Utah Code Annotated) provides:

A bona fide purchaser in addition to acquiring the rights of a purchaser *also acquires the security free of any adverse claim.*⁴ (Emphasis added.)

If Prince-Covey & Co. was a bona fide purchaser, it took the securities free of *any* adverse claim, including plaintiff's, and plaintiff has a cause of action only against Mr. England for his admitted conversion of the stock. This section of the Utah Uniform Commercial Code embodies prior Utah law as expressed in, *e.g.*, *Nokes v. Continental Mining & Milling Co.*, 6 Utah 2d 177, 308 P.2d 954 (1954), and the law of other jurisdictions, *e.g.*, *East Coalinga Oil Fields Corp. v. Robinson*, 86 Cal. 2d 153, 194 P.2d 554 (1948); *McCullen v. Hereford State Bank*, 214 F.2d 185 (5th Cir., 1954), all of which state the rule that a bona fide purchaser takes securities free of any adverse claim.

The Utah Uniform Commercial Code defines the attributes of a bona fide purchaser:

⁴ Section 70A-8-301(1), Utah Code Annotated (1953), defines "adverse claim" to include plaintiff's claim in this action:

"Upon delivery of a security the purchaser acquires the rights in the security which his transferor had or had actual authority to convey except that a purchaser who has himself been a party to any fraud or illegality affecting the security or who as a prior holder had notice of an adverse claim cannot improve his position by taking from a later bona fide purchaser. '*Adverse claim*' includes a claim that a transfer was or would be wrongful or that a particular adverse person is the owner of or has an interest in the security." (emphasis added)

A "bona fide purchaser" is a purchaser for value in good faith and without notice of any adverse claim who takes delivery of a security in bearer form or of one in registered form issued to him or endorsed to him in blank. §70A-2-302, U.C.A.

There is no dispute that the stock received from Murray First Thrift was in bearer form. There should be no question that defendant gave "value" since it extinguished Mr. England's debt to it.⁵ There can also be no question but that the "adverse claim" of ownership alleged by plaintiff is among those that cannot be asserted against a bona fide purchaser for value.⁶ Good faith is defined by the Code as "honesty *in fact* in the conduct or *transaction concerned*."⁷ Certainly there is nothing in the record to impugn Mr. Covey's honesty.

The trial court's determinative conclusion must, then, have been that defendant, through Almon Covey, had notice of plaintiff's adverse claim, and that this notice was established by the pleadings and affidavits in conformance with the stringent standards required for summary judgment.⁸ This conclusion is not supported in the record.

⁵ Section 70A-1-201(44), Utah Code Annotated, (1953).

⁶ Section 70A-8-301(1), Utah Code Annotated, defining "adverse claim", set out in footnote 4, *supra*.

⁷ Section 70A-1-201(19), Utah Code Annotated (1953) (emphasis added).

⁸ The pertinent provisions of Rule 56(c), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, provide that summary judgment shall be rendered *only* if there is on a showing "that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and *that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law*." (emphasis added).

Summary judgment should be granted with great caution, *Watkins v. Simonds*, 11 Utah 2d 46, 354 P.2d 852; only upon a showing that precludes all reasonable possibility that the loser might prevail at trial, *Green v. Garn*, 11 Utah 2d 375, 359 P.2d 1050; with all doubts resolved in favor of permitting trial, *Henry v. Washiki Club, Inc.*, 11 Utah 2d 138, 355 P.2d 973.

Mr. Covey's affidavit filed at the time of the hearing on plaintiff's motion for summary judgment states that he did not have knowledge of any adverse claim of plaintiff Strand. This lack of actual knowledge is not controverted in the record by plaintiff and even Mr. England's affidavit indicates only that Mr. Covey should have been on notice that England held the securities for a third person, *possibly* Mr. Strand. Notice of an adverse claim under §70A-8-302, U.C.A. is defined in §70A-8-304(2), U.C.A.:

The fact that the purchaser (including a broker for the seller or buyer) has notice that the security is held for a third person . . . does not create a duty to inquire into the rightfulness of the transfer or constitute notice of adverse claims. If, however, the purchaser . . . has *knowledge* that the proceeds are being used or that the transaction is for the individual benefit of the fiduciary or otherwise in breach of duty, the purchaser is charged with notice of adverse claims. (Emphasis added)

Even if England's statement to the effect that Mr. Covey should have been on notice that England held the securities for a third person had been uncontroverted, the above section makes clear that no duty was thereby created on defendant's part to inquire into the rightfulness of the transfer, let alone that such "notice" constituted "notice of adverse claims" under §70A-8-302. The actual knowledge required by the last sentence of §304(2) was unequivocally denied in Mr. Covey's affidavit presented to the court at the time of the motion for summary judgment hearing. (R. 23-24).

The plaintiff failed to show defendant's actual knowledge of plaintiff's alleged ownership. Nevertheless the

court below imputed England's knowledge of plaintiff's ownership of the stock to the defendant. This was error. England's knowledge could be imputed to Prince-Covey only if England was acting as an agent of Prince-Covey in the transaction. While an agent's knowledge is imputed to his principal if the knowledge is gained or used in the course and scope of the agent's employment, there can be no imputation when the agent is acting adversely to the principal. As stated in Restatement 2d, Agency §279:

The principal is not affected by the knowledge of an agent as to matters involved in a transaction in which the agent deals with the principal or another agent of the principal as, or on the account of, an adverse party.

Illustration 2 to that section is on all fours with the instant case:

Having obtained goods from T by fraud, A conveys them to P in consideration of the extinguishment of a debt due P from A. P is not bound by A's knowledge in a jurisdiction in which the extinguishment of an antecedent debt is value.

It was uncontroverted in the trial court that England was acting entirely for his own personal benefit, outside the scope of his employment, when he obtained the Hoffman stock from plaintiff for use as security for a personal loan. These transactions did not involve his employer in any sense. More importantly, however, Mr. England's actions in obtaining the shares from Murray First Thrift, selling them and applying the proceeds to his debt to defendant were not within the scope of his employment. As was well established in the record before the trial court, England

dealt with defendant in these transactions as an adverse party. For England to accomplish his purpose he had to conceal his knowledge (or belief) as to plaintiff's ownership in the stock. Failure to conceal this knowledge would have led Prince-Covey to execute on the stock in order to satisfy its pre-existing \$34,600 judgment against plaintiff, and England would have continued to owe his personal debt to defendant.⁹ Under these circumstances the agent, England, had to avoid disclosure to his principal, Prince-Covey & Co., Inc. These circumstances fall squarely within the universally accepted rule expressed in Restatement 2d, Agency §279, which has been applied in Utah as well as most other jurisdictions.

In *Powerine Co. v. Russell's, Inc.*, 103 Utah 441, 135 P.2d 906 (1943) the court stated that where "the agent was acting adversely to the principal . . . his knowledge and actions cannot be imputed to his principal," and that this "is the exception to the general rule that the knowledge and acts of the agent will be imputed to the principal." (135 P.2d at 912). In *Western Securities Co. v. Silver King Consol. Mining Co.*, 57 Utah 88, 192 P. 664 (1920) the court declined to impute the knowledge of a director and agent of a corporation to the corporation when the agent was acting in his own interests in effectuating a sale of stock to a third party. The court said:

⁹ At best, even assuming that England did not know of defendant's judgment against plaintiff, England's purpose in securing the monies to reduce his debt to defendant would have been defeated if Mr. Covey had been told of Strand's ownership and had refused to participate in the conversion. It is significant that England nowhere alleges that he told Covey of Strand's ownership.

The law is well settled that, in case [an] . . . agent of a corporation transacts business in which he is adversely interested, his knowledge respecting the particular transaction . . . is not imputable to the corporation, and hence it is not liable for his acts. 192 P. at 669.

The court also quoted with approval the following language from *E. S. Woodworth & Co. v. Carroll*, 104 Minn. 65, 112 N.W. 1054:

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