2001

Jerry V. Strand v. Prince-Covey and Co., INC., and Almon Covey : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACT

The plaintiff agrees with the defendant's statement of fact except in one important particular.

The defendant claims that the plaintiff JERRY STRAND filed no affidavit to support his purported ownership of the stock or to support any other allegation in his complaint (see defendant's brief page 3). The plaintiff's deposition was taken prior to hearing

on the motion for Summary Judgment and at the hearing the defendants, themselves, moved to publish that deposition. The deposition, under oath, supports all the allegations to plaintiff's complaint.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE IS NO ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT

The defendants urge this court to reverse the lower court by attempting to point out two "unresolved issues of fact". In so doing, the defendants failed to consider a substantial portion of the record that was before the lower court and also this court. That part of the record was plaintiff's deposition. Somehow, in preparing their brief, the defendants overlooked that it moved for and was granted the publication of plaintiff's deposition (R-22). That deposition, under oath, answers all of the "unresolved issues" that defendants have raised.

The defendant in its brief states that the plaintiff at no time averred under oath to support its proposition that he owned the stock in question (defendant's brief, page 3). However, on page 6 and again on pages 9 and 10 of plaintiff's deposition, he testified as to his ownership. In addition, the plaintiff's allegation of ownership was further supported by the defendant's own agent's affidavit.

Q. Now, you allege that in your complaint that at least as of January 13, 1972 that you were the owner of 6,000 shares of Hoffman Resources, Inc., common stock; is that correct?¹

A. If that's the date in the complaint, yes. I don't recall right now.

Q. That's the date in the complaint.

A. All right.

Q. When did you purchase these shares?

A. I was constantly trading in the Hoffman stock both as stock and as a riding option on stock, so as to these specific shares it was—they may well be acquired pursuant to an option or they may have been purchased, but I specifically don't remember right now what specific dates they were acquired.

Q. Where were you purchasing the stock? Through what broker?

A. Some of it were through individuals. Some of it was through various brokers, both in this city and other cities.

Q. Do you keep any records of these transaction?

A. Yes, I do.

Q. Do you have those records in your possession?

A. I have them in my possession, yes. Either I or Elmer Fox has those records.

Q. Elmer Fox being your accountant?

¹ The evidence before the trial court was that 4,000 shares of stock and not 6,000 shares of stock were picked up on the occasion which is the subject of this law suit.

A. Yes.

Q. Do you recall the certificate numbers on these 6,000 shares?

A. I don't recall them but I do have a copy of the receipt I think that was given to Ted England for the stock. (Plaintiff's deposition pages 6 and 7)

These averments were not denied under oath by defendants at the Summary Judgment hearing. In its answer the defendants only denied plaintiff's ownership because of lack of information.

After Summary Judgment was granted, defendant's attorney filed an affidavit inferring circumstantially that plaintiff was not the owner of the stock in question. The affidavit was not before the court at the time of the hearing on the motion for Summary Judgment and, therefore, was not properly considered by the lower court. The affidavit was filed in support of a motion to set aside the Judgment pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The court denied the motion because the information had always been in the defendant's attorney's knowledge and could not be considered newly discovered evidence, mistake, inadvertance, surprise, nor would it support any of the grounds enumerated in Rule 60(b).

In the affidavit, defendant's attorney averred some weeks before the alleged conversion that plaintiff testified in a Supplemental Proceeding that he did not own any Hoffman stock. Even if the affidavit had been before the court on Summary Judgment, it would not

have raised a genuine issue of material fact. The affidavit seeks to circumstantially infer that because some weeks prior to the conversion plaintiff had testified he did not own the stock. He, therefore, could not have owned the stock at the time of conversion. The circumstantial inference was refuted by direct evidence by both the plaintiff in his deposition and defendant's agent in his affidavit. Even defendant's attorney averred that plaintiff had testified that he had options on a considerable amount of Hoffman stock. Thus, the affidavit would not raise a genuine issue of material fact. Had defendants filed their affidavit before the hearing, plaintiff could have easily answered, under oath, how he exercised his options and acquired ownership to the stock between the time of the Supplemental Hearing and the conversion.

The other supposed "unresolved issue of fact" is the date upon which plaintiff discovered the conversion. This would be material for the purposes of assessing damages. However, on page 18 and again on page 21 of plaintiff's deposition, plaintiff testified concerning the date that he discovered the conversion.

Q. Now, you've alleged in your complaint that September 13, 1972 was the date at which the conversion took place. Do you—were you aware on September 13 that's when the conversion took place?

A. Was I aware at the time, is that your question?

Q. Right. On September 13, yeh.

A. I was aware after—well, approximately that time perhaps, within a day or two.

Q. In other words, around September 13, 14, or 15, you became aware that your stock had been sold?

A. That's correct.

(Plaintiff's deposition page 18)

The unresolved issues of facts raised by defendant in their brief were not unresolved and had the defendants read the entire record — including plaintiff's deposition— they would have discovered the answers.

POINT II

PLAINTIFF IS ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS MATTER OF LAW

- A. *The defendant was not a bona fide purchaser of the stock in question.*
- B. *Assuming defendant purchased plaintiff's stock defendant could not have been a bona fide purchaser as:*
 - 1. *Defendant's agent's knowledge of plaintiff's ownership would be imputed by law to defendant.*
 - 2. *Defendant's retention of the proceeds of the converted property ratified their agent's conversion.*

C. *Assuming the knowledge of defendant's agent will not be imputed to the defendant, plaintiff is still entitled to Summary Judgment as knowledge is not an essential element of a conversion action.*

A. *The defendant was not a bona fide purchaser of the stock in question.*

The defendants attempt to avoid liability by straining to argue that they did not convert plaintiff's securities but they purchased them; and that they were bona fide purchasers. While plaintiff agrees with the defendant's statement of law concerning bona fide purchasers, the facts simply do not support the plaintiff's claim.

The defendant's own statement of the facts are as follows:

Mr. England agreed that if defendant would pay Mr. England's debt to Murray First Thrift, thereby obtaining release of the stock, Mr. England would sell the stock, repay the defendant for the Murray First Thrift payment and use the balance of the proceeds to pay or reduce his debt (R-20) (defendant's brief pages 2 and 3). Mr. Covey accompanied Mr. England to Murray First Thrift where Mr. Covey delivered defendant's check to pay the loan and Murray First Thrift released and delivered to Mr. England certificates representing at least 4,000 shares of Hoffman Resources stock . . . Mr. Covey and Mr. England returned to Prince Covey & Co. offices where 4,000 shares of the stock were deposited in England's personal ac-

count and sold. Proceeds were given to defendant Prince-Covey & Co. to repay it for the money advanced to Murray First Thrift and to pay or reduce England's debt to defendant (R-20) (defendant's brief page 3).

Under no strain of interpretation did those facts amount to a purchase of the shares by Prince-Covey & Co. The shares were merely sold by Prince-Covey & Co.

B. Assuming defendants purchased plaintiff's stock it could not have been a bona fide purchaser as:

- 1. Defendant's agent's knowledge of plaintiff's ownership would be imputed by law to defendant*
- 2. Defendant's retention of the proceeds of the converted property ratified their agent's conversion.*

The defendant again attempts a strained interpretation of the facts to support its argument that the knowledge of its agent would not be imputed to it. Again, the plaintiff does not quarrel with the well established rule that the knowledge of the agent will not be imputed to the principal in transactions where in the parties were acting adversely. However, the facts simply do not support such a proposition. The defendant and its agent were acting jointly for their mutual benefit. The defendant issued its check to obtain securities that were pledged at a lending institution. The defendant and the agent received the stock together

and transported the same to the offices of defendant. There the stock was deposited in an account at defendant's offices. From there, through the use of defendant's facilities as a brokerage firm, the stock was sold. The proceeds came from the buying broker to defendant and it retained a portion of the proceeds to satisfy its position and paid the balance to its agent (see defendant's own statement of facts on pages 2 and 3 of its brief).

This is not a case where the defendant purchased stock from its agent but rather where the two of them together sold stock through the defendant's facilities and divided the proceeds. It can hardly be said that the agent and the principal's interest were adverse — they were the same.

The fact that England may have had a personal interest did not prevent the defendant from being on notice as to plaintiff's interest in the stock converted. *The Restatement of Agency 2d*, Section 271 states:

A notification by or to a third person to or by an agent is not prevented from being notice to or by the principal because of the fact that the agent, when receiving or giving the notification, is acting adversely to the principal, unless the third person has notice of the agent's adverse purposes.

Consequently, to the extent that England was acting on his own behalf as well as for the incidental benefit of the defendants, the defendants are liable for his conversion. Section 274 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d*, states

The knowledge of an agent who acquires property for his principal affects the interest of his principal in the subject matter to the same extent as if the principal had acquired it with the same knowledge, except where the agent is privileged not to disclose or to act upon the knowledge, or a change in conditions makes it inequitable thus to affect the principal.

Further, subsection c. of the Comment of Section 274 states:

Where an agent, having no power to bind the principal by the transaction, acquires property from a third person by fraud and, without the principal's knowledge transfers it to the principal to make up for past or future embezzlements, the principal takes it subject to a constructive trust, . . .

Section 282 of the *Restatement of Agency* 2d provides:

(1) A principal is not affected by the knowledge of an agent in a transaction in which the agent secretly is acting adversely to the principal and entirely for his own or another's purposes except as stated in Subsection (2).

(2) The principal is affected by the knowledge of an agent who acts adversely to the principal:

(a) if the failure of the agent to act upon or to reveal the information results in a violation of a contractual or relational duty of the principal to a person harmed thereby; . . .

(c) *if, before he has changed his position the principal knowingly retains a benefit through the act of the agent which otherwise he would not have received.* (Emphasis added.)

Comment c. to Section 282 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d* states:

c. *Meaning of 'acting adversely.'* The mere fact that the agent's primary interests are not coincident with those of the principal does not prevent the latter from being affected by the knowledge of the agent if the agent is acting for the principal's interests. The rule as stated herein is substantially similar to the rule stated in Sections 235-236, dealing with the liability of a principal or master for the torts of his agent, and the Comment on those Section is applicable.

Section 235 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d*, Comment b. on mixed motives states:

b. *Mixed motives.* The servant may be within the scope of employment, although his departure from instructions in the performance of his work is for his own purposes, if his act is done with the intent to serve his employer. In such case, the rule stated in Section 236 applies.

Section 236 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d* provides:

Conduct may be within the scope of employment, although done in part to serve the purposes of the servant or of a third person.

In *Barsh v. Mullins*, 338 P.2d 845 (Okla. 1959) the court held that where a glass manufacturer accepted the benefit of an arrangement between one of its employees and a third party for the transportation of its wares in the course of his employment and in the performance of a duty that it had given him the authority to perform, the company was in no position to deny

knowledge of the arrangement. The court relied upon Section 282 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d*.

In *Reynolds v. Snow*, 197 NYS 2d 590 aff'd 168 NE 2d 882 (N.Y. App. Div. 1960) the court held that under the provisions of Section 282 of the *Restatement of Agency 2d* where a husband acquired stock in violation of a third party's rights in the name of his wife that the knowledge would be imputed to the wife and that the third party could recover.

In 3 Am. Jur. 2d *Agency*, Section 270, the general rule is acknowledged that a principal is liable for the contracts of his agent where the third person had no knowledge of the agent's dereliction. In the instant case, the action can be one in conversion or the violation of the contractual relationship (by conversion) between the plaintiff and defendant's agent.

In 3 Am. Jur. 2d, Section 261 *Agency*, it is recognized that a principal is liable for the acts of his agent within his scope of employment or apparent authority which the principal ratifies with knowledge of the facts surrounding the circumstances. In the instant case, the actions of England were for the direct benefit of the defendants' interests and in satisfaction of their accounts and the evidence presented to the court upon which the original judgment was based disclosed knowledge on the part of England and the defendants as to the impropriety of using the stock in question to satisfy England's accounts. Further, the defendants have retained the benefits of the conversion in effect ratifying

the acts of England's conversion. When a principal has knowledge of acts of his agent which were contrary to law, he has a duty to disaffirm those actions at the first reasonable moment. If there is any action on the part of the principal that indicates his intention to become a party to the transaction it constitutes ratification. *Moses v. Archie McFarland & Son*, 119 Utah 602 P.2d 531 (1951). The Utah court in *Thirteenth and Washington Street Corp. v. Nelsen*, 123 Utah 70, 254 P.2d 847 (1953) recognized that where a landlord authorizes the conduct of another which amounts to tortious conduct, he must bear the responsibility of the conduct.

In *Malia State Bank Commissioner v. Giles*, 100 Utah 562, 114 P.2d 208 (1941), the Utah court was concerned with a situation where the pledgee of stock received certificates belonging to the wife of a pledgor. The court held under the circumstances of that case that the pledgee was placed on notice as to the limitation of the apparent authority of the agent. The facts of that particular case allow a justifiable inference that in this case the defendants should have been on reasonable notice that the stock England converted and used for their benefit was not free from suspicion. In the instant case, the plaintiff acted in good faith and with innocence of fraudulent actions of England and the defendants retained the benefits of their agent's action. Under such circumstances, the acceptance of the benefit constituted a ratification and estops the defendants from disclaiming liability for conversion. *Latsis v. Nick Floor*, 99 Utah 214, 104 P.2d 619 (1940). In the last

cited case the court held that where benefits of illegal action of an agent are retained by the principal that they become liable to an innocent third party as if an agent had acted properly.

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